ICF International, Inc.
Form 10-Q
November 03, 2017

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2017

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File Number: 001-33045

ICF International, Inc.

(Exact name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 22-3661438 (State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer

Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, VA 22031 (Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (703) 934-3000

Not Applicable

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b–2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Accelerated filer

Smaller reporting company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No

As of October 27, 2017, there were 18,642,406 shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock.

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q FOR THE

PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I	. FINANCIAL INFORMATION	3
Item 1.	Financial Statements	3
	Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2017 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2016	3
	Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) for the Three Months and Nine Months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	4
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) for the Nine Months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016	5
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	6
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	15
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	24
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	24
PART I	I. OTHER INFORMATION	25
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	25
Item 1A	A. Risk Factors	25
Item 2.	<u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>	25
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	25
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	25
Item 5.	Other Information	25
Item 6.	Exhibits	26

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ICF International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	September 30, 2017 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2016
Assets		
Current Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 6,485	\$ 6,042
Contract receivables, net	288,060	281,365
Prepaid expenses and other	12,902	11,724
Income tax receivable	1,598	_
Total current assets	309,045	299,131
Total property and equipment, net	36,027	40,484
Other assets:		
Goodwill	685,922	683,683
Other intangible assets, net	37,971	46,129
Restricted cash	1,251	1,843
Other assets	17,431	14,301
Total Assets	\$ 1,087,647	\$ 1,085,571
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity		
Current Liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 62,604	\$ 70,586
Accrued salaries and benefits	54,807	39,763
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	44,377	52,631
Deferred revenue	34,485	29,394
Income tax payable	_	106
Total Current Liabilities	196,273	192,480
Long-term Liabilities:		
Long-term debt	230,080	259,389
Deferred rent	14,970	15,600
Deferred income taxes	47,160	39,114
Other	14,378	12,984
Total Liabilities	502,861	519,567
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 13)		
Stockholders' Equity:		
Preferred stock, par value \$.001 per share; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued	_	_
Common stock, \$.001 par value; 70,000,000 shares authorized; 22,009,402 and	22	22

^{21,663,432} shares issued; 18,639,314 and 19,021,262 shares outstanding

as of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively

Additional paid-in capital	305,394	292,427
Retained earnings	407,696	371,890
Treasury stock	(121,716) (88,695)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(6,610) (9,640)
Total Stockholders' Equity	584,786	566,004
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity	\$ 1,087,647	\$ 1,085,571

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ICF International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

$CONSOLIDATED \ STATEMENTS \ OF \ COMPREHENSIVE \ INCOME \ (UNAUDITED)$

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Mon September	30,
	2017	2016	2017	2016
Revenue	\$305,301		\$907,988	\$895,538
Direct Costs	189,992	191,310	564,495	562,697
Operating costs and expenses:				
Indirect and selling expenses	84,558	84,193	259,600	250,393
Depreciation and amortization	4,613	4,130	13,431	12,233
Amortization of intangible assets	2,742	3,111	8,225	9,387
Total operating costs and expenses	91,913	91,434	281,256	272,013
Operating income	23,396	23,776	62,237	60,828
Interest expense	(2,175)	(2,407)	(6,663)	(7,312)
Other (expense) income	(311)	732	24	950
Income before income taxes	20,910	22,101	55,598	54,466
Provision for income taxes	7,218	8,664	19,792	20,555
Net income	\$13,692	\$13,437	\$35,806	\$33,911
Earnings per Share:				
Basic	\$0.73	\$0.71	\$1.90	\$1.79
Diluted	\$0.72	\$0.70	\$1.86	\$1.75
				·
Weighted-average Shares:				
Basic	18,666	18,965	18,807	18,989
Diluted	19,024	19,329	19,218	19,345
	,	,	,	,
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	558	(165)	3,030	(3,108)
Comprehensive income, net of tax	\$14,250	\$13,272	\$38,836	\$30,803
-				

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

ICF International, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands)

	Nine Mont September	30,
	2017	2016
Cash Flows from Operating Activities	Φ 25 006	ф22 O11
Net income	\$35,806	\$33,911
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	0.150	7.674
Non-cash equity compensation	8,158	7,674
Depreciation and amortization	21,655	21,620
Facilities consolidation reserve	1,351	
Deferred taxes and other adjustments, net	7,473	5,223
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Contract receivables, net	. ,) (18,286)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(2,835) (4,875)
Accounts payable	(8,822) (4,387)
Accrued salaries and benefits	14,795	18,921
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	(9,996) 3,779
Deferred revenue	4,470	160
Income tax receivable and payable	(1,710) (5,567)
Other liabilities	3,815	(386)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	70,284	57,787
Cash Flows from Investing Activities		
Capital expenditures for property and equipment and capitalized software	(8,475) (10,654)
Payments for business acquisitions, net of cash received	(92) —
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	(8,567) (10,654)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities		
Advances from working capital facilities	460,875	360,947
Payments on working capital facilities	(490,184) (391,285)
Payments on capital expenditure obligations	(3,394) (3,030)
Debt issue costs	(1,591) —
Proceeds from exercise of options	4,722	2,104
Net payments for stockholder issuances and buybacks	(32,934) (13,408)
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities	(62,506) (44,672)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash	640	(596)
(Decrease) Increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash	(149) 1,865
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, Beginning of Period	7,885	9,109
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, End of Period	\$7,736	\$10,974
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information		
Cash paid during the period for:		
Interest	\$6,042	\$6,085

Income taxes \$15,085 \$15,137

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Nature of Operations

ICF International, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company") provide professional services, including management, technology, and policy consulting and implementation services, to government, and commercial clients that operate in four key markets: energy, environment, and infrastructure; health, education and social programs; safety and security; and consumer and financial. The Company offers a full range of services to these clients throughout the entire life cycle of a policy, program, project or initiative, ranging from initial research and analysis, to design and implementation of programs and technology-based solutions, including the provision and delivery of engagement services and programs.

The Company's major clients are United States ("U.S.") federal government departments and agencies, most significantly the Department of Health and Human Services, the Department of State, and the Department of Defense. The Company also serves U.S. state and local government departments and agencies, international governments, and commercial clients worldwide. Commercial clients include: airlines, airports, electric and gas utilities, hospitals, health insurers and other health-related companies, oil companies, banks and other financial services companies, transportation, travel and hospitality firms, non-profits/associations, law firms, manufacturing firms, retail chains, and distribution companies. The term "federal" or "federal government" refers to the U.S. federal government, and "state and local" or "state and local government" refers to U.S. state and local governments, unless otherwise indicated.

The Company, incorporated in Delaware, is headquartered in Fairfax, Virginia. It maintains offices throughout the world, including over 55 offices in the U.S. and more than 10 offices in key markets outside the U.S., including offices in the United Kingdom, Belgium, China, India, and Canada.

Interim Results

The unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). These rules and regulations permit some of the information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements, prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"), to be condensed or omitted. In management's opinion, the unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments that are of a normal recurring nature, necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations and financial position of the Company for the interim periods presented. The Company reports operating results and financial data in one operating and reportable segment. Operating results for the three and nine-months period ended September 30, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2017. These unaudited consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, and the notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2017 (the "Annual Report").

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2016 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The reclassifications were immaterial to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Significant Accounting Policies

Goodwill Impairment Test Date

The Company has historically performed its annual goodwill impairment test as of September 30 of each year. For the annual impairment test as of September 30, 2016, the Company performed a qualitative assessment of whether it was more likely than not that the Company's reporting unit's fair value was less than its carrying amount. After completing the assessment, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount and that no impairment existed as of the assessment date. If the Company had concluded otherwise, a quantitative goodwill impairment test would have been required, which would have included a determination of the fair value of the reporting unit and a comparison of the fair value to its carrying value.

Effective for the annual goodwill impairment test for 2017 and for future testing, the Company will perform the required annual test as of October 1 of each year rather than on September 30. The Company does not believe that the change in the date of the annual goodwill impairment test is a material change in the method of applying an accounting principle nor does it expect that it will result in any delay, acceleration or impact to the results of the impairment testing. The Company believes this date is preferable because it aligns with the timing of the annual planning process which largely occurs during the fourth quarter. Retrospective application to prior periods is impracticable as the Company is unable to objectively determine, without the use of hindsight, the assumptions that would be used in those earlier periods. Other than the anticipated change in the date of its annual goodwill impairment test, there have been no other changes to any other significant accounting policy as further described in "Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in the Annual Report.

Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income represents foreign currency translation adjustments arising from the use of differing exchange rates from period to period and the change in the fair value of the derivatives which are designated as a cash flow hedges. The financial positions and results of operations of the Company's foreign subsidiaries are based on the local currency as the functional currency and are translated to U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes. Assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each period-end. Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the period. Translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") in stockholders' equity in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

The activity included in other comprehensive income (loss) in the Company's consolidated statements of comprehensive income for each period reported is as follows:

	Three Months Ended	Nine Months Ended
	September 30,	September 30,
	2017 2016	2017 2016
Foreign currency translation adjustments	\$ 330 \$ (165)	\$ 2,802 \$ (3,108)
Change in fair value of derivative designated as cash flow		
	228 —	228 —
hedge		
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (1)	\$ 558 \$ (165)	\$ 3,030 \$ (3,108)

(1) Net of tax of \$0.6 million and \$1.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and \$1.3 million and \$3.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted

In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments that addressed eight specific cash flow issues to reduce the existing diversity in practice. During the third quarter of 2017, the Company elected to early adopt ASU 2016-15, which did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force), which requires entities to show the changes in the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. As a result, entities will no longer present transfers between cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows. During the third quarter of 2017, the Company elected to early adopt ASU 2016-18 retrospectively, with adjustments to the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years' consolidated statements of cash flows reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal years. The impact of the adoption on the Company's previously reported consolidated statements of cash flows is summarized as follows:

	Three M Ended	Ionths	Three Mo	nths Ended
		31, 2017	March 31,	
	As	As	As	As
	Reporte	dAdjusted	Reported	Adjusted
Restricted cash	\$603	\$ —	\$(12)	\$
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities	6,705	6,102	(13,377)	(13,365)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	41	34	449	449
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	2,165		1,612	
Increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash		1,569	_	1,624
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning Period	6,042		7,747	
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, Beginning Period		7,885	_	9,109
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	8,207		9,359	_
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, End of Period	_	9,454	_	10,733

	Six Mont	hs Ended	Six Month	ns Ended
	June 30, 2	2017	June 30, 2	2016
	As	As	As	As
	Reported	Adjusted	Reported	Adjusted
Restricted cash	\$597	\$ <i>—</i>	\$(3)	\$ <i>—</i>
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	17,242	16,645	15,737	15,740
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	359	367	405	405
Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	3,451		3,101	_
Increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash	_	2,862	_	3,104
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning Period	6,042		7,747	
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, Beginning Period	_	7,885	_	9,109
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	9,493		10,848	
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, End of Period	_	10,747	_	12,213

Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2016 As As Reported Adjusted

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Other adjustments, net	5,254	5,223	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	57,818	57,787	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(592)	(596)
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents	1,900		
Increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash		1,865	
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning Period	7,747		
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, Beginning Period		9,109	
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	9,647		
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash, End of Period		10,974	

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). ASU 2014-09 provides a single comprehensive revenue recognition framework and supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance. Included in the new principles-based revenue recognition model are changes to the basis for determining the timing for revenue recognition. In addition, the standard expands and improves revenue disclosures. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14 to amend ASU 2014-09 in order to defer the effective date of the new standard. In accordance with this update, the Company elected to adopt the requirements of the new standard effective January 1, 2018.

The Company has evaluated the impact of the new guidance on the timing of revenue and expanded disclosure requirements. The Company has concluded that, for the majority of its contracts, there is no change in the timing of revenue recognition. However, the new standard will result in a change in revenue timing for performance incentives under certain contracts. Under current guidance, performance incentives are recognized as revenue when specific quantitative goals are achieved, generally at the end of a measurement period. Under the new standard, these incentives are considered variable consideration and the Company will include the most likely amount of the priced incentives to be earned and recognize revenue associated with the incentives over the term of the agreement. This change is not expected to result in a material change to the Company's annual revenue since most incentives have a one-year measurement period which is aligned with the Company's fiscal year, but the change may accelerate revenue recognized on a quarterly basis. Adoption and successful implementation of the new standard will include modifying existing policies, processes and controls as they relate to revenue recognition as well as to the preparation of the required disclosures.

The Company intends to adopt the standard using the modified retrospective transition method. Under the modified retrospective approach, the new standard will, for the period beginning January 1, 2018, apply to new contracts and those that were not completed as of January 1, 2018. For those contracts not completed as of January 1, 2018, this method will result in a cumulative catch-up adjustment to retained earnings. Prior periods will not be retrospectively adjusted, but the Company will maintain dual reporting for the year of initial application in order to disclose the effect on revenue of adopting the new guidance.

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This update revises an entity's accounting for operating leases and requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all leases with terms of more than 12 months. This update also requires that lessees recognize assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for the rights and obligations created by all such leases and requires disclosures designed to give financial statement users information on the amount and timing of lease expenses arising from such leases. These disclosures include certain qualitative and specific quantitative disclosures. For lessees, the new guidance is not expected to significantly change the recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses arising from a lease. This update is effective for the first interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted.

The Company continues to evaluate the impact of adopting ASU 2016-02, the elections to be made at adoption in a modified retrospective approach, and the timing of adoption.

Goodwill

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), which simplifies the measurement of goodwill during the preparation of a goodwill impairment test in the event that there is evidence of an impairment based on qualitative or quantitative assessments. ASU 2017-04 does not change how the goodwill impairment is identified, and the Company will continue to perform a qualitative assessment annually to determine whether the two-step impairment test is required. The current accounting standard requires the impairment loss to be recognized under Step 2 of the impairment test. This requires the Company to determine whether the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. The implied fair value is calculated by assigning the fair value of the reporting unit to all of its assets and liabilities as if it had been acquired in a business combination. The new standard would require the Company to determine the fair value of the reporting unit and subtract the carrying value from the fair value of the reporting unit to determine if there is an impairment. ASU 2017-04 is effective for the Company for fiscal years after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is permitted. ASU 2017-04 is required to be adopted prospectively and the adoption is effective for annual goodwill impairment tests performed in the year of adoption.

The Company continues to evaluate the impact of adopting ASU 2017-04, but does not anticipate the changes to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Derivative and Hedging

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12: Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) (ASU 2017-12). ASU 2017-12's objective is to improve the financial reporting of an entity's hedges and better aligns an entity's hedge accounting with the entity's risk management strategies, as well as simplify the current hedge accounting guidance. ASU 2017-12 is effective for the Company for fiscal years after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, and all elections should be applied to hedges existing on the date of adoption. The Company is evaluating the impact of ASU 2017-12 on its consolidated financial statements resulting from the adoption of the standard.

NOTE 2 – CONTRACT RECEIVABLES

Contract receivables consisted of the following:

	September 30,	December 31,
	2017	2016
Billed	\$ 164,047	\$ 170,436
Unbilled	127,620	113,520
Allowance for doubtful accounts	(3,607)	(2,591)
Contract receivables, net	\$ 288,060	\$ 281,365

Contract receivables, net of the established allowance for doubtful accounts, are stated at amounts expected to be realized in future periods. Unbilled receivables result from revenue earned in advance of billing and which can be invoiced at contractually defined intervals or milestones, as well as upon completion of the contract or government audits. The Company anticipates that the majority of unbilled receivables will be substantially billed and collected within one year.

The Company considers a number of factors in its estimate of allowance for doubtful accounts, including the customer's financial condition, historical collection experience, and other factors that may bear on collectability of the receivables. The Company writes off contract receivables when such amounts are determined to be uncollectible.

NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT

On May 17, 2017, the Company entered into a Fifth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement with a syndication of 11 commercial banks (the "Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility: (i) includes modifications to the Company's Fourth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement, (ii) matures on May 17, 2022, (iii) increases the borrowing ceiling up to \$600.0 million without a borrowing base requirement, taking into account financial, performance-based limitations, and (iv) provides for an "accordion," which permits additional revolving credit commitments of up to \$300.0 million, subject to lenders' approval. While the modification of the Credit Facility did not increase our debt outstanding, \$106.0 million of funds from new syndicated borrowings was used to pay off or pay down borrowings from syndicate members prior to the loan modification and align the allocation of debt within the syndication. These amounts were included within the "Advances from working capital facilities" and "Payments on working capital facilities" line items in the statement of cash flows for the period ended September 30, 2017.

The Company has the option to borrow funds under the Credit Facility at interest rates based on both LIBOR (1, 3, or 6 month rates) and the Base Rate, at its discretion, plus their applicable margins. Base Rates are fluctuating per annum rates of interest equal to the highest of (i) the Federal Funds Open Rate, plus 0.5%, (ii) the Prime Rate, and (iii) the daily LIBOR rate, plus 1.00%. The interest accrued based on LIBOR rates is to be paid on the last business day of the interest period (1, 3, or 6 months), while interest accrued based on the Base Rates is to be paid in quarterly installments. The Credit Facility provides for letters of credit aggregating up to \$60.0 million which reduce the funds available under the Credit Facility when issued. The Credit Facility is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company and requires that the Company remain in compliance with certain financial and non-financial covenants. The financial covenants, require, among other things, that the Company maintain at all times an Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined under the Credit Facility) of not less than 3.00 to 1.00 and a Leverage Ratio (as defined, under the Credit Facility) of not more than 3.75 to 1.00 (subject to adjustment, in certain circumstances) for each fiscal quarter. As of September 30, 2017, the Company was in compliance with its covenants under the Credit Facility.

As of September 30, 2017, the Company had \$230.1 million long-term debt outstanding, 12 outstanding letters of credit totaling \$3.7 million, and unused borrowing capacity of \$366.2 million under the Credit Facility (excluding the accordion). Taking into account the financial, performance-based limitations, available borrowing capacity (excluding

the accordion) was \$227.7 million as of September 30, 2017. The weighted-average interest rate on debt outstanding was 2.7% and 2.5% for the first nine months of 2017 and 2016, respectively.

NOTE 4 – ACCRUED SALARIES AND BENEFITS

As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, accrued salaries and benefits included the following:

	September 30, 2017	December 31, 2016
Accrued paid time off and leave	\$ 15,034	\$ 11,342
Accrued salaries	19,979	9,443
Accrued bonuses, liability-classified awards and commissions	12,632	13,590
Accrued payroll taxes and withholdings	343	22
Accrued medical	4,604	3,026
Other	2,215	2,340
Total accrued salaries and benefits	\$ 54,807	\$ 39,763

NOTE 5 – ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, included the following:

	September 30,	December 31,
	2017	2016
Foreign currency translation adjustments	\$ 9,013	\$ 11,815
Gain on sale of interest rate hedge agreement (1)	(2,175)	(2,175)
Change in fair value on derivative designated as cash flow hedge (2)	(228)	
Total	\$ 6,610	\$ 9,640

- (1) Represents the fair value of interest rate hedge agreement, designated as a cash flow hedge, which was sold on December 1, 2016. The fair value of the interest rate hedge agreement was recorded in other comprehensive income and will be reclassified to earnings when earnings are impacted by the hedged items, the interest payments on the Credit Facility or its replacement from January 31, 2018 to January 31, 2023 (See "Note 10—Derivative Instruments" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in the Annual Report).
- (2) Represents the change in fair value of interest rate hedge agreement, designated as a cash flow hedge, and entered into on August 31, 2017. The fair value of the interest rate hedge agreement was recorded in other comprehensive income and will be reclassified to earnings when earnings are impacted by the hedged items, the interest payments on the Credit Facility or its replacement from August 31, 2018 to August 31, 2023 (See "Note 7—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities").

NOTE 6 - RESTRICTED CASH

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the statement of financial position at September 30, 2017 and 2016 to the total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016:

	Beginning	Beginning
Cash and cash equivalents	\$6,042 \$6,485	\$7,747 \$9,647
Restricted cash	1,843 1,251	1,362 1,327
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the		
consolidated statement of cash flows	\$7,885 \$7,736	\$9,109 \$10,974

NOTE 7 – DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

On August 31, 2017, the Company entered into a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap agreement for an aggregate notional amount of \$25.0 million which hedges a portion of the Company's floating rate indebtedness (the "Transaction"). The entry into a swap is intended to mitigate the Company's interest rate risk as it provides for the Company to pay a fixed rate of 1.8475% per annum plus the applicable margin pursuant to the Credit Facility. Notwithstanding the terms of the interest rate swap transaction, the Company is ultimately obligated for all amounts due and payable under the Credit Facility. The cash flows from the Transaction begin August 31, 2018 and the swap matures August 31, 2023. The Company has designated the swap as a cash flow hedge. On a quarterly basis, management evaluates the swap to determine its effectiveness or ineffectiveness. For the portion of the swap deemed effective, changes in fair value will be recorded as part of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. For the ineffective portion of the swap, changes in fair value will be recorded within net income. Management intends that the swap remain effective. Realized gains and losses in connection with each required interest payment will be reclassified from AOCI to interest expense.

The Company may enter into additional swap transactions in the future but does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

NOTE 8 – INCOME TAXES

The Company's effective tax rate for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was 34.5% and 39.2%, and 35.6% and 37.7%, respectively.

The Company is subject to federal income taxes in the U.S. as well as to taxes in various state and foreign jurisdictions. Tax statutes and regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to interpretation and require the application of significant judgment. The Company's 2014 through 2016 tax years remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service for federal tax purposes. Certain significant state and foreign tax returns also remain open under the applicable statute of limitations and are subject to examination for the tax years from 2013 to 2016.

The Company's total liability for unrecognized tax benefits as of September 30, 2017 was \$0.8 million. Included in the balance as of September 30, 2017 was \$0.7 million in tax positions that, if recognized, would have a favorable impact on the Company's effective tax rate. The Company believes it is reasonably possible that, during the next 12 months, the Company's liability for uncertain tax benefits may decrease by approximately \$0.7 million.

The Company's policy is not to recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of tax expense. The Company has made no provision for deferred U.S. income taxes or additional foreign taxes on future unremitted earnings of its controlled foreign subsidiaries because the Company considers these earnings to be permanently invested.

NOTE 9 – ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK COMPENSATION

The ICF International, Inc. 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan (as amended, the "Omnibus Plan") provides for the granting of options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units ("RSUs"), performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other stock-based awards to all officers, key employees, and non-employee directors of the Company. As of September 30, 2017, the Company had approximately 1.9 million shares available for grant under the Omnibus Plan. Cash-settled RSUs ("CSRSUs") have no impact on the shares available for grant under the Omnibus Plan, nor on the calculated shares used in earnings per share ("EPS") calculations.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Company granted to its employees approximately 0.2 million shares in the form of RSUs with an average grant date fair value of \$41.35, and the equivalent value of approximately 0.2 million shares in the form of CSRSUs with an average grant date fair value of \$41.72. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Company also granted approximately 0.1 million shares in the form of performance-based share awards ("PSAs") to its employees with a grant date fair value of \$38.81 per share. The RSUs, CSRSUs and PSAs granted are generally subject to service-based vesting conditions, with the PSAs also having performance-based vesting conditions. The performance conditions for the PSAs granted in 2017 have a performance period from January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2019 and the performance conditions are consistent with the PSAs granted in the prior years, except for a lower assumed compounded annual growth rate in the earnings per share during the performance period and a higher threshold for the Company to maximize performance shares to be awarded. The Company's performance-based share program is further described in "Note 13—Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation", in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in the Annual Report.

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of \$5.2 million and \$4.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and \$13.4 million and \$12.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Unrecognized compensation expense of approximately \$14.8 million as

of September 30, 2017 related to unsettled RSUs is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years. The unrecognized compensation expense related to CSRSUs totaled approximately \$16.4 million at September 30, 2017 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years. Unrecognized compensation expense related to PSAs of approximately \$3.3 million as of September 30, 2017 is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years.

NOTE 10 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

EPS is computed by dividing reported net income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding. Diluted EPS considers the potential dilution that could occur if common stock equivalents were exercised or converted into stock. The difference between the basic and diluted weighted-average equivalent shares with respect to the Company's EPS calculation is due entirely to the assumed exercise of stock options and the vesting and settlement of RSUs and PSAs. PSAs are included in the computation of diluted shares only to the extent that the underlying performance conditions (i) are satisfied as of the end of the reporting period or (ii) would be considered satisfied if the end of the reporting period were also the end of the applicable performance period and the result would be dilutive under the treasury stock method.

As of September 30, 2017, the PSAs granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 met the related performance conditions and were included in the calculation of diluted EPS. However, the PSAs granted during the year ended December 31, 2016 and during the nine months ended September 30, 2017 have not yet completed their initial two-year performance period and therefore were excluded in the calculation of diluted EPS. There was no weighted-average shares excluded from the calculation of EPS because they were anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, and 0.2 million for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016. The anti-dilutive shares were primarily associated with stock options and RSUs.

The dilutive effect of stock options, RSUs, and PSAs for each period reported is summarized below:

	Three Months				
	Ended		Nine Months Ended		
	Septembe	er 30,	Septembe	er 30,	
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Net Income	\$13,692	\$13,437	\$35,806	\$33,911	
Weighted-average number of basic shares outstanding					
during the period	18,666	18,965	18,807	18,989	
Dilutive effect of stock options, RSUs, and performance					
shares	358	364	411	356	
Weighted-average number of diluted shares outstanding					
during the period	19,024	19,329	19,218	19,345	
				4.70	
Basic earnings per share	\$0.73	\$0.71	\$1.90	\$1.79	
Diluted earnings per share	\$0.72	\$0.70	\$1.86	\$1.75	

NOTE 11 - SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

The Company's current share repurchase program, which expires November 4, 2017, allows for share repurchases in the aggregate up to \$75.0 million under shares repurchase plans approved by the Board of Directors pursuant to Rules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. As part of the Company's modification of the Credit Facility, the Credit Facility limits on share repurchases were eliminated to permit unlimited share repurchases, provided the Company's Leverage Ratio, prior to and after giving effect to such repurchases, is not greater than 3.25 to 1.00. As of September 30, 2017, approximately \$25.7 million remained available for share repurchases.

During September 2017, the Board of Directors approved a new repurchase program and repurchase plan effective November 4, 2017 with a limit of \$100.0 million. The limitation under the Credit Facility remains unchanged.

NOTE 12 - FAIR VALUE

The Company measures and reports certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("ASC 820"). Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Generally, fair value is based on observable quoted market prices or derived from observable market data when such market prices or data are available. ASC 820 establishes a three-level hierarchy used to estimate fair-value by which each level is categorized based on the priority of the inputs used to measure fair value:

Level 1: Quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g., interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals, and implied volatilities); and inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means; and Level 3: Uses inputs that are unobservable and require the Company to make certain assumptions and require significant estimation and judgment from management to use in pricing the fair value of the assets and liabilities. As of September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, there were no assets or liabilities measured at Level 3 on a recurring basis.

Certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, contract receivables, and accounts payable are carried at cost, which, due to their short maturities, the Company believes approximates their fair values at September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016. The Company believes the carrying value of other long-term liabilities related to capital expenditure obligations approximates their fair value at September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 based on the current rates offered to the Company for similar instruments with comparable maturities (Level 2). The Company believes the carrying value of its Credit Facility at September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 approximate the estimated fair value for debt with similar terms, interest rates, and remaining maturities currently available to companies with similar credit ratings (Level 2). The Company applies the provisions of ASC 820 to its assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value pursuant to other accounting standards, including assets and liabilities resulting from the Company's nonqualified deferred compensation plan, interest rate swap agreement, and foreign currency forward contract agreements not eligible for hedge accounting. The impact of the amounts recorded for the nonqualified deferred compensation plan, interest rate swap agreement, and the forward contract agreements was immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 13 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Litigation and Claims

The Company is involved in various legal matters and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While these matters and proceedings cause it to incur costs, including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, the Company currently believes that any ultimate liability arising out of these matters and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Road Home Contract

On June 10, 2016, the Office of Community Development (the "OCD") of the State of Louisiana filed a written administrative demand with the Louisiana Commissioner of Administration against ICF Emergency Management Services, L.L.C. ("ICF Emergency"), a subsidiary of the Company, in connection with ICF Emergency's administration of the Road Home Program ("Program"). The Program contract was a three-year, \$912 million contract awarded to the Company in 2006. The Program ended, as scheduled, in 2009.

The Program was primarily intended to help homeowners and landlords of small rental properties affected by Hurricanes Rita and Katrina. In its administrative demand, the OCD sought approximately \$200.8 million in alleged overpayments to the Program's grant recipients. The State of Louisiana separately supplemented the amount of recovery it is seeking in total to approximately \$220.2 million. The State of Louisiana, through the Division of Administration, also filed suit in Louisiana state court on June 10, 2016. The State of Louisiana broadly alleges and seeks recoupment for the same claim made in the administrative proceeding submission before the Louisiana Commissioner of Administration. On September 21, 2016, the Commissioner of the Division of Administration notified OCD and the Company of his decision to defer jurisdiction of the administrative demand filed by the OCD. In so doing, the Commissioner declined to reach a decision on the merits and stated that his deferral would not be deemed to grant or deny any portion of the OCD's claim. The Commissioner subsequently authorized the parties to proceed on the matter in the previously filed judicial proceeding. The Company continues to believe that this claim has no merit and intends to vigorously defend its position. The Company has therefore not recorded a liability.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this "Quarterly Report") constitute forward-looking statements as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "anticipate," "believe," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "plan," "should," "will," "would," or similar words. You should read statements that contain these words carefully. The risk factors described in our filings with the SEC, as well as any cautionary language in this Quarterly Report, provide examples of risks, uncertainties, and events that may cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations described in the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to:

- dependence on contracts with federal, state and local, and international governments, agencies and departments for the majority of our revenue;
- failure by Congress or other governmental bodies to approve budgets in a timely fashion and reductions in government spending, including, but not limited to, budgetary cuts resulting from automatic sequestration under the Budget Control Act of 2011;
- the current Presidential Administration may make substantial changes to fiscal and tax policies that may adversely affect the business:
- results of routine and non-routine government audits and investigations;
- dependence of commercial work on certain sectors of the global economy that are highly cyclical;
- failure to receive the full amount of our backlog;
- difficulties in integrating acquisitions generally;
- risks resulting from expanding service offerings and client base;
- the lawsuit filed by the State of Louisiana seeking approximately \$220.2 million in alleged overpayments from the Road Home contract; and
- additional risks as a result of having international operations.

Our forward-looking statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management and the information available to our management at the time these disclosures were prepared. Although we believe the expectations reflected in these statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements, even if our situation changes in the future.

The terms "we," "our," "us," and the "Company," as used throughout this Quarterly Report, refer to ICF International, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated. The term "federal" or "federal government" refers to the United States ("U.S.") federal government, and "state and local" or "state and local government" refers to U.S. state and local governments, unless otherwise indicated. The following discussion and analysis is intended to help the reader understand our business, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity and capital resources. You should read this discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2017 (our "Annual Report").

OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK

We provide professional services, including management, technology, and policy consulting and implementation services, to government and commercial clients. We help our clients conceive, develop, implement, and improve solutions that address complex natural resource, social, public safety, and business issues. Our services primarily support clients that operate in four key markets:

Energy, Environment, and Infrastructure; Health, Education, and Social Programs; Safety and Security; and Consumer and Financial.

We provide services that deliver value throughout the entire life cycle of a policy, program, project, or initiative, ranging from initial research and analysis to design and implementation of programs and technology-based solutions, to the provision of engagement services and programs. Our key services include:

- Research and Analytic Services;
- Assessment and Advisory Services;
- Design and Management Services;
- Solution Identification and Implementation Services; and
- Engagement Services.

Our clients utilize our services because we offer a combination of deep subject matter expertise, technical solutions, and institutional experience. We believe that our domain expertise and the program knowledge developed from our research and analytic, and assessment and advisory engagements further position us to provide a full suite of services.

We report operating results and financial data as a single segment based on the consolidated information used by our chief operating decision-maker in evaluating the financial performance of our business and allocating resources. Our single segment represents our core business – professional services for government and commercial clients. Although we describe our multiple service offerings and client markets to provide a better understanding of our business operations, we offer integrated solutions, pulling from resources across our Company and, accordingly, do not manage our business or allocate our resources based on those service offerings or client market areas.

We believe that demand for our services will continue to grow as government, industry, and other stakeholders seek to address critical long-term societal and natural resource issues due to heightened concerns about: clean energy and energy efficiency; health promotion, treatment, and cost control; and ongoing homeland security threats. We also see significant opportunity to further leverage our digital and client engagement capabilities across our commercial and government client base. Our future results will depend on the success of our strategy to enhance our client relationships and seek larger engagements spanning all aspects of the program life cycle as well as completing and successfully integrating strategic acquisitions. We will continue to focus on building scale in vertical and horizontal domain expertise, developing business with both our government and commercial clients, and replicating our business model in selective geographies. In doing so, we will continue to evaluate strategic acquisition opportunities that enhance our subject matter knowledge, broaden our service offerings, and/or provide scale in specific geographies.

While we continue to see favorable long-term market opportunities, there are certain near-term challenges facing all government service providers. Administrative and legislative actions by the federal government could have a negative impact on our business, which may result in a reduction to our revenue and profit and adversely affect cash flow. However, we believe we are well positioned to provide a broad range of services in support of initiatives that will continue to be priorities to the federal government as well as to state and local and international governments and commercial clients.

Employees and Offices:

We have more than 5,000 employees around the globe, including many recognized as thought leaders in their respective fields. We serve clients globally from our headquarters in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area, more than 55 regional offices throughout the U.S. and more than 10 offices in key markets outside the U.S., including offices in the United Kingdom, Belgium, China, India and Canada.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The purchase price of an acquired business is allocated to the tangible assets and separately identifiable intangible assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based upon their respective fair values, with the excess recorded as goodwill.

Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a purchase business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Instead, we test them annually for impairment, or more frequently if impairment indicators arise. Intangible assets with estimable useful lives are amortized over such lives and reviewed for impairment indicators arise. As of September 30, 2017, goodwill and intangible assets were \$685.9 million and \$38.0 million, respectively.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment test as of the last day of the third quarter, September 30, of each year. Effective for our annual goodwill impairment test for 2017 and going forward, we will perform the test as of October 1 of each year, the first day of the fourth quarter. We believe that this date is preferable because it aligns with the timing of our annual planning process which largely occurs in the fourth quarter. We do not believe that the change in the date of our annual goodwill impairment test is a material change in our method of applying the relevant accounting principle.

For the annual impairment test as of September 30, 2016, we had one reporting unit and performed a qualitative assessment of whether it is more likely than not that our reporting unit's fair value is less than its carrying amount. After completing the qualitative assessment, we determined that it was more likely than not that the estimated fair value of the reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount and, therefore, that no impairment existed.

We are required to test long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset might not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less cost to sell.

Other than the anticipated change in the date of our annual goodwill impairment test date, there have been no changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report to the information disclosed in the Critical Accounting Policies section in Part II, "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our Annual Report.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recent accounting standards are discussed in "Note 1—Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation—Recent Accounting Pronouncements" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in this Quarterly Report.

SELECTED KEY METRICS

Client Markets

The table below shows our revenue generated from each client market and such revenue as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated. For each client, we have attributed all revenue from that client to the market we consider to be the client's primary market, even if a portion of that revenue relates to a different market.

	Three Months Three Mo		nths									
	Ended		Ended			Nine Months Ended			Nine Months Ended			
	September	September 30,		September 30,		September 30,			September 30,			
	2017			2016			2017			2016		
(dollars in thousands)	Dollars	Perce	nt	Dollars	Perce	nt	Dollars	Perce	nt	Dollars	Percei	nt
Energy, environment, and												
infrastructure	\$123,371	40	%	\$121,199	40	%	\$ 365,661	40	%	\$ 344,272	39	%
Health, education, and social												
programs	127,015	42	%	129,518	42	%	375,771	42	%	385,990	43	%
Safety and security	25,357	8	%	25,084	8	%	76,838	8	%	73,722	8	%
Consumer and financial	29,558	10	%	30,719	10	%	89,718	10	%	91,554	10	%
Total	\$305,301	100	%	\$306,520	100	%	\$907,988	100	%	\$895,538	100	%

Client mix

We categorize our clients into two client classifications: government and commercial. Within the government classification, we present three types of client sub-classifications: federal government, state and local government, and international government. We also serve a variety of commercial clients worldwide. The table below shows our

revenue by client type and revenue as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated.

	Ended		Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended			Nine Months Ended				
	September 2017	30,		September 2016	30,		September 3	20.2015	7	September	20. 201 <i>6</i>	5
(1.11		D			ъ		•				,	
(dollars in thousands)	Dollars	Perce	nt	Dollars	Perce	nt	Dollars	Percei	nt	Dollars	Percer	nt
U.S. federal government	\$142,253	47	%	\$149,638	49	%	\$ 421,641	46	%	\$435,225	49	%
U.S. state and local												
government	29,845	10	%	33,544	11	%	99,071	11	%	99,673	11	%
International government	22,633	7	%	17,284	5	%	62,564	7	%	55,842	6	%
Government	194,731	64	%	200,466	65	%	583,276	64	%	590,740	66	%
Commercial	110,570	36	%	106,054	35	%	324,712	36	%	304,798	34	%
Total	\$305,301	100	%	\$306,520	100	%	\$ 907,988	100	%	\$895,538	100	%

Contract mix

We utilize three main types of contracts: Time-and-materials; Fixed-price; and Cost-based. For additional information regarding the types of contracts we utilize, see the "Contract Mix" section in Part II Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in our Annual Report. Our contract mix varies from year to year and quarter to quarter due to numerous factors, including our business strategies and the procurement activities of our clients. Unless the context requires otherwise, we use the term "contracts" to refer to contracts and any task orders or delivery orders issued under a contract. The table below shows our revenue by contract type and revenue as a percentage of our total revenue for the periods indicated.

	Three Mor Ended September		Three Mor Ended September		Nine Month	s Ended	Nine Months Ended			
	2017		2016		September 3	30, 2017	September 3	30, 2016		
(dollars in thousands)	Dollars	Percent	Dollars	Percent	Dollars	Percent	Dollars	Percent		
Time-and-materials	\$125,586	41 %	\$129,094	42	% \$ 383,193	42 %	\$ 384,805	43	%	
Fixed-price	122,199	40 %	119,273	39	% 357,193	39 %	339,146	38	%	
Cost-based	57,516	19 %	58,153	19 9	% 167,602	19 %	171,587	19	%	
Total	\$305,301	100 %	\$306,520	100	% \$ 907,988	100 %	\$ 895,538	100	%	

Contract backlog

Our funded and estimates of unfunded and total backlog on the dates indicated were as follows:

	Septembe	r 30,	December 31,
(dollars in millions)	2017	2016	2016
Funded	\$1,006.2	\$1,071.0	\$ 1,020.3
Unfunded	1,074.3	1,090.3	1,102.4
Total	\$2,080.5	\$2,161.3	\$ 2,122.7

There were no backlog amounts in either 2017 or 2016 for which the contract award was under protest.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017, Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2016

The table below sets forth certain items from our unaudited consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the percentage of revenue for such items in the periods provided, and the period-over-period rate of change and percentage of revenue for the periods indicated.

Year-to-Year Change Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended September 30, Dollars Percentages

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form 10-Q

					Septembe	er 30,
					2016 and	2017
(dollars in thousands)	2017	2016	2017	2016	Dollars	Percent
Revenue	\$305,301	\$306,520	100.0%	100.0%	\$(1,219)	(0.4%)
Direct Costs	189,992	191,310	62.2%	62.4 %	(1,318)	(0.7%)
Operating Costs and Expenses:						
Indirect and selling expenses	84,558	84,193	27.7%	27.5 %	365	0.4%
Depreciation and amortization	4,613	4,130	1.5%	1.3 %	483	11.7%
Amortization of intangible assets	2,742	3,111	0.9%	1.0 %	(369)	(11.9%)
Total Operating Costs and Expenses	91,913	91,434	30.1%	29.8 %	479	0.5%
Operating Income	23,396	23,776	7.7%	7.8 %	(380)	(1.6%)
Interest expense	(2,175)	(2,407)	(0.7%)	(0.8 %)	232	(9.6%)
Other (expense) income	(311)	732	(0.1%)	0.2 %	(1,043)	(142.5%)
Income before Income Taxes	20,910	22,101	6.9%	7.2 %	(1,191)	(5.4%)
Provision for Income Taxes	7,218	8,664	2.4%	2.8 %	(1,446)	(16.7%)
Net Income	\$13,692	\$13,437	4.5%	4.4%	\$255	1.9%

Revenue. Revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was \$305.3 million, compared to \$306.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016, representing a decrease of \$1.2 million or 0.4%. The decrease was primarily attributable to a \$5.7 million decrease in government revenue primarily as a result of lower pass-through activity from our federal government clients in the health, education, and social programs market. The decrease in government revenue was partially offset by a \$4.5 million increase in commercial revenue driven by continued growth from our energy, environment, and infrastructure clients. The reduction in revenues across client types has primarily come from services provided to our clients who work within the health, education, and social programs market and consumer and financial market offset by increases in services provided to clients operating in the energy market.

Direct Costs. Direct costs for the three months ended September 30, 2017 were \$190.0 million compared to \$191.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016, a decrease of \$1.3 million or 0.7%. The decrease in direct costs was primarily attributable to a \$1.5 million decrease in direct labor and associated fringe benefits partially offset by an increase of \$0.2 million in subcontractor and other direct costs. Effective January 1, 2017, in order to be consistent with updated cost accounting requirements under U.S. governmental cost accounting standards, we changed our labor cost allocation methodology for all contracts which resulted in the classification of certain labor and associated fringe costs as indirect and selling expenses rather than direct costs. In comparing the results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2017 to the prior year, this change in labor allocation methodology resulted in the classification of an estimated \$2.5 million of indirect and selling expenses as direct costs in the prior year. This change in methodology did not affect operating income. Direct costs as a percent of revenue decreased to 62.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2017, compared to 62.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Indirect and selling expenses. Indirect and selling expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 were \$84.6 million compared to \$84.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016, an increase of \$0.4 million or 0.4%. The increase in indirect and selling expenses was primarily due to a \$2.6 million increase in indirect compensation costs partially offset by a \$2.3 million decrease primarily in general and administrative costs during the three months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in the indirect compensation costs was primarily driven by the change in labor cost allocation methodology previously mentioned. Indirect and selling expenses as a percent of revenue increased to 27.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2017, compared to 27.5% for the three months ended September 30, 2016.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization was \$4.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to \$4.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016, an increase of \$0.5 million or 11.7%.

Amortization of intangible assets. Amortization of intangible assets for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was \$2.7 million compared to \$3.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The \$0.4 million decrease was primarily due to reduced levels of intangible assets amortization associated with prior acquisitions.

Operating Income. Operating income was \$23.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to \$23.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016, a decrease of \$0.4 million or 1.6%. Operating income as a percentage of revenue decreased to 7.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2017, compared to 7.8% for the same period in 2016. The changes were largely due to decreases in revenue offset by decreases in the operating costs and expenses, resulting in a net reduction in operating income with a relatively flat operating margin.

Interest expense. For the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, interest expense was \$2.2 million and \$2.4 million, a decrease of \$0.2 million or 9.6%. The lower interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2017 was due to lower average debt balances for the three month period ending September 30, 2017 compared to the three months period ending September 30, 2016, partially offset by a slightly increase in the weighted-average interest rate compared to the same period in 2016.

Other (expense) income. Other expense was \$0.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to other income of \$0.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. Other income for the three months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to the net gain on a corporate owned insurance policy.

Provision for Income Taxes. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, income tax expense was \$7.2 million compared to \$8.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016, a decrease of \$1.5 million or 16.7%. The decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to a decrease in tax expense of \$0.8 million resulting from exercise of equity-based compensation and a decrease in profitability in the three months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2016.

The effective income tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was 34.5% and 39.2%, respectively. The decrease in the effective income tax rate between periods was due primarily to a combination of lower tax expense in the third quarter of 2017 related to equity-based compensation, non-taxable income and domestic return to provision adjustments. Our effective rate, including state and foreign taxes net of federal benefit, for the quarter ended September 30, 2017 was lower than the statutory tax rate primarily due to a decrease in tax expense of \$0.8 million resulting from exercise of equity-based compensation.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017, Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016

The following table sets forth certain items from our unaudited consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the percentage of revenue for such items in the periods provided, and the period-over-period rate of change and percentage of revenue for the periods indicated.

					Year-to-Y	Year
					Change	
					Nine Mo	nths
	Nine Mont	ths Ended So	eptember	30,	Ended	
					September 30,	
	Dollars		Percenta	iges	2016 and 2017	
(dollars in thousands)	2017	2016	2017	2016	Dollars	Percent
Revenue	\$907,988	\$895,538	100.0%	100.0%	\$12,450	1.4%
Direct Costs	564,495	562,697	62.2%	62.8 %	1,798	0.3%
Operating Costs and Expenses:						
Indirect and selling expenses	259,600	250,393	28.6%	28.0 %	9,207	3.7%
Depreciation and amortization	13,431	12,233	1.5%	1.4 %	1,198	9.8%
Amortization of intangible assets	8,225	9,387	0.9%	1.0 %	(1,162)	(12.4%)
Total Operating Costs and Expenses	281,256	272,013	31.0%	30.4 %	9,243	3.4%
Operating Income	62,237	60,828	6.8%	6.8 %	1,409	2.3%
Interest expense	(6,663)	(7,312)	(0.7%)	(0.8 %)	649	(8.9%)
Other income	24	950	_	0.1 %	(926)	(97.5%)
Income before Income Taxes	55,598	54,466	6.1%	6.1 %	1,132	2.1%
Provision for Income Taxes	19,792	20,555	2.2%	2.3 %	(763)	(3.7%)
Net Income	\$35,806	\$33,911	3.9%	3.8 %	\$1,895	5.6%

Revenue. Revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was \$908.0 million, compared to \$895.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, representing an increase of \$12.5 million or 1.4%. The increase was primarily attributable to a \$19.9 million increase in commercial revenue driven by growth from our energy, environment and infrastructure clients. The increase in commercial revenue was partially offset by a decrease of \$7.5 million in government revenue, primarily as a result of lower pass-through activity. The growth in revenues across client types has primarily come from services provided to our clients who work within the energy, environment and infrastructure market offset by those in the health, education, and social programs market.

Direct Costs. Direct costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 were \$564.5 million compared to \$562.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, an increase of \$1.8 million or 0.3%. The increase in direct costs was primarily attributable to a \$3.9 million increase in subcontractor and other direct costs due to the growth in our year-over-year revenues offset by a \$2.1 million decrease in direct labor and associated fringe benefits. In comparing the results of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, the change in labor cost allocation methodology described above resulted in the classification of an estimated \$7.6 million of indirect and selling expenses as direct costs in the prior year. This change in methodology did not affect operating income. Direct costs as a percent of revenue decreased to 62.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, compared to 62.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Indirect and selling expenses. Indirect and selling expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 were \$259.6 million compared to \$250.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, an increase of \$9.2 million or 3.7%. The increase in indirect and selling expenses was due to a \$9.2 million increase in indirect compensation costs during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The increase in indirect compensation costs increase resulted from the change in labor cost allocation methodology described above and year-over-year growth in revenues. Indirect

and selling expenses as a percent of revenue increased to 28.6% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, compared to 28.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization was \$13.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to \$12.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, an increase of \$1.2 million or 9.8%. The increase in depreciation and amortization was due an increase in depreciable or amortizable assets and to a \$0.3 million charge to accelerated depreciation and amortization of assets associated with the facility consolidations.

Amortization of intangible assets. Amortization of intangible assets for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was \$8.2 million compared to \$9.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The \$1.2 million decrease was primarily due to reduced levels of intangible assets amortization associated with prior acquisitions.

Operating Income. Operating income was \$62.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to \$60.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, an increase of \$1.4 million or 2.3%. The change was largely due to the increase in operating revenues, partially offset by an increase in operating costs, which included \$1.8 million in expenses related to facility consolidations. Operating income as a percent of revenue increased to 6.8% nine months ended September 30, 2017, compared to 6.8% for the same period in 2016.

Interest expense. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, interest expense was \$6.7 million, compared to \$7.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, a decrease of \$0.6 million or 8.9%. The decrease was primarily due to lower average debt balances outstanding for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2016, partially offset by a slight increase in our weighted average interest rate compared to the same period in 2016 and additional amortization of unamortized loan costs related to the Credit Facility modification.

Other income. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, other income was minimal compared to other income of \$0.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Other income for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 primarily represents the net gain on a corporate owned insurance policy.

Provision for Income Taxes. For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, income tax expense was \$19.8 million compared to \$20.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, a decrease of \$0.8 million or 3.7%. The decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to a decrease in tax expense of \$1.8 million resulting from annual vesting, forfeitures, and exercise of equity-based compensation, offset by an increase in profitability in the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

The effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, was 35.6% and 37.7%, respectively. The decrease in the effective income tax rate between periods was due primarily to a combination of lower tax expense related to equity-based compensation, non-taxable income and domestic return to provision adjustments. Our effective rate, including state and foreign taxes net of federal benefit, for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 was lower than the statutory tax rate primarily due to significant excess tax benefits of \$1.8 million recognized due to the annual vesting, forfeitures, and exercise of equity-based compensation, non-taxable income and domestic return to provision adjustments.

NON-GAAP MEASURES

Service Revenue

Service revenue represents revenue less subcontractor and other direct costs such as third-party materials and travel expenses. Service revenue is not a recognized term under accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. ("U.S. GAAP") and should not be considered an alternative to revenue as a measure of operating performance. This presentation of service revenue may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies because other companies may use different methods to prepare similarly titled measures. We believe service revenue is a useful measure to investors since, as a consulting firm, a key source of our profit is revenue obtained from the services that we provide to our clients through our employees.

The table below presents a reconciliation of revenue to service revenue for the periods indicated:

	Three Mon	ths Ended	Nine Months Ended		
	September	30, 2017	September 30, 2017		
(in thousands)	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Revenue	\$305,301	\$306,520	\$907,988	\$895,538	
Subcontractor and other direct costs	(83,534)	(83,346)	(241,514)	(237,567)	
Service revenue	\$221,767	\$223,174	\$666,474	\$657,971	

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

Earnings before interest and other income and/or expense, tax, and depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") is a measure we use to evaluate performance. We believe EBITDA is useful in assessing ongoing trends and, as a result,

may provide greater visibility in understanding our operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA is EBITDA further adjusted to eliminate the impact of certain items that we do not consider to be indicative of the performance of our ongoing operations. We evaluate these adjustments on an individual basis based on both the quantitative and qualitative aspects of the item, including their size and nature as well as whether or not we expect them to occur as part of our normal business on a regular basis. We believe that the adjustments applied in calculating adjusted EBITDA are reasonable and appropriate to provide additional information to investors.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not recognized terms under U.S. GAAP and should not be used as alternatives to net income as a measure of operating performance. This presentation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies because other companies may use different methods to prepare similarly titled measures. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not intended to be a measure of free cash flow for management's discretionary use, as they do not consider certain cash requirements such as interest payments, tax payments, capital expenditures, and debt service.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA for the periods indicated:

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
(in thousands)	2017	2016	2017	2016
Net income	\$13,692	\$13,437	\$35,806	\$33,911
Other expense (income)	311	(732)	(24)	(950)
Interest expense	2,175	2,407	6,663	7,312
Provision for income taxes	7,218	8,664	19,792	20,555
Depreciation and amortization	7,355	7,241	21,656	21,620
EBITDA	30,751	31,017	83,893	82,448
Special charges related to severance for staff realignment	264	389	841	1,475
Special charges related to facility consolidations and office				
closures	2	53	1,721	108
Adjusted EBITDA	\$31,017	\$31,459	\$86,455	\$84,031

Non-GAAP Earnings per Share

Non-GAAP earnings per share ("EPS") represents diluted EPS excluding the impact of certain items such as severance for staff realignment, and facility consolidations and office closures (which are also excluded from Adjusted EBITDA as described further above), as well as the impact of amortization of intangible assets related to our acquisitions. While these adjustments may be recurring and not infrequent or unusual, we do not consider these adjustments to be indicative of the performance of our ongoing operations. Non-GAAP EPS is not a recognized term under U.S. GAAP and is not an alternative to basic or diluted EPS as a measure of performance. This presentation of Non-GAAP EPS may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies because other companies may use different methods to prepare similarly titled measures. We believe that the supplemental adjustments applied in calculating Non-GAAP EPS are reasonable and appropriate to provide additional information to investors.

The following table presents a reconciliation of diluted EPS to Non-GAAP EPS for the periods indicated:

	Three M	I onths		
	Ended		Nine Mo	onths Ended
	September 30,		September 30,	
	2017 2016 201		2017	2016
Diluted EPS	\$0.72	\$0.70	\$ 1.86	\$ 1.75
Special charges related to severance for staff realignment		0.02	0.04	0.08
Special charges related to facility consolidations and office				
closures	0.01	_	0.11	0.01
Amortization of intangibles	0.14	0.16	0.43	0.49
Income tax effects ⁽¹⁾	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.20)) (0.22)
Non-GAAP EPS	\$0.83	\$0.81	\$ 2.24	\$ 2.11

⁽¹⁾ Income tax effects were calculated using an effective U.S. GAAP tax rate of 34.5% and 39.2% for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and an effective tax rate of 35.6% and 37.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity and Borrowing Capacity. Short-term liquidity requirements are created by our use of funds for working capital, capital expenditures, and the need to provide any debt service. We expect to meet these requirements through a combination of cash flow from operations and borrowings. Our primary source of borrowings is from our Fifth Amended and Restated Business Loan and Security Agreement with a syndicate of 11 commercial banks (the "Credit Facility"), as described in "Note 3—Long-Term Debt" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in this Quarterly Report.

We believe that the combination of internally generated funds, available bank borrowings, and cash and cash equivalents on hand will provide the required liquidity and capital resources necessary to fund on-going operations, customary capital expenditures, and organic growth. We continuously analyze our capital structure to ensure we have sufficient capital to fund future strategic acquisitions. We monitor the state of the financial markets on a regular basis to assess the availability and cost of additional capital resources both from debt and equity sources. We believe that we will be able to access these markets at commercially reasonable terms and conditions if we need additional borrowings or capital. We also believe that the combination of internally-generated funds, available bank borrowings, as well as cash and cash equivalents on hand will provide the required liquidity and capital resources necessary to fund on-going operations, potential acquisitions, customary capital expenditures, and other current working capital requirements.

Financial Condition. There were several changes in our balance sheet during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. Cash and cash equivalents increased \$0.4 million on September 30, 2017, from \$6.0 million on December 31, 2016 and is further discussed in "Cash Flow" below. Contract receivables, net, increased \$7.7 million compared to December 31, 2016, while days-sales-outstanding decreased from 78 days for the quarter ended December 31, 2016, to 75 days for the quarter ended September 30, 2017, primarily due to a reduction of temporary timing differences in client collections. Accounts payable and accrued expenses decreased \$8.0 million and \$8.3 million, respectively, due to timing of payments. Accrued salaries and benefits increased \$11.8 million due to timing of payments. Long-term debt decreased to \$230.1 million on September 30, 2017, from \$259.4 million on December 31, 2016, primarily due to a net payment on working capital facilities of \$29.3 million. We generally utilize cash flow from operations as our prime source of funding and turn to our Credit Facility to fund temporary fluctuations such as increases in accounts receivable, reductions in accounts payable and accrued expenses, and the purchase of treasury stock.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss within stockholders' equity declined in the nine months ended September 30, 2017 primarily due to the impact of changes in foreign currency upon our cumulative translation adjustment. Both the currency conversion of the British Pound and the Euro experienced increases relative to the U.S. dollar resulting in the change in the cumulative translation adjustment. We have explored various options for mitigating the risk associated with potential fluctuations in the foreign currencies in which we conduct transactions. We currently have forward contract agreements ("hedges") in an amount proportionate to work anticipated to be performed under certain contracts in Europe. We recognize changes in the fair value of the hedges in our results of operations. We may increase the number, size and scope of our hedges as we analyze options for mitigating our foreign exchange risk. The current impact of the hedges to the consolidated financial statements is immaterial.

Share Repurchase Program. The Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program (which expires November 4, 2017) that authorizes us to make share repurchases in the aggregate up to \$75.0 million. Our total repurchases are also limited by the Credit Facility as described in "Note 11—Share Repurchase Program" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements". Our overall repurchase limit is the lower of the amount imposed by the Board of Directors and by the Credit Facility. Purchases under the repurchase program may be made from time to time at prevailing market prices in open market purchases or in privately negotiated transactions pursuant to Rules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and in accordance with applicable insider trading and other securities laws and regulations. The purchases will be funded from existing cash balances and/or borrowings, and the repurchased shares will be held in treasury and used for general corporate purposes. The timing and extent to which we repurchase our shares will depend upon market conditions and other corporate considerations, as may be considered in our sole discretion. During the nine months ended September 30, 2017, we repurchased 684,335 shares under this program at an average price of \$44.88 per share. As of September 30, 2017, approximately \$25.7 million remained available for share repurchases.

During September 2017, the Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program and repurchase plan effective November 4, 2017 with a limit of \$100.0 million. The limitation under the Credit Facility remain unchanged.

Cash Flow. We consider cash on deposit and all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. The following table sets forth our sources and uses of cash for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016:

	Nine Months Ended	
	September 30,	
(in thousands)	2017 2016	
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	\$70,284 \$57,787	
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	(8,567) (10,654)	

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities	(62,506)	(44,672)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash	640	(596)
(Decrease) Increase in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash	\$(149)	\$1,865

The primary factors affecting our operating cash flow are the overall profitability of our contracts, our ability to invoice and collect from our clients in a timely manner, and our ability to manage vendor payments terms. Operating activities provided \$70.3 million in cash for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 compared to cash provided by operating activities of \$57.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Cash flows provided by operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 were positively impacted by higher net income and negatively impacted by the timing of payment of operating assets and liabilities relative to the quarter end date.

Investing activities used cash of \$8.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017, compared to \$10.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 was primarily for capital expenditures.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2017, cash flows used in financing activities of \$62.5 million was largely attributable to cash used for net payments for stockholder issuances and buybacks of \$32.9 million, primarily representing shares repurchased under our share repurchase program, and by net advances on our Credit Facility of \$29.3 million. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016, cash flows used in financing activities of \$44.7 million was largely attributable to cash used for net advances on our Credit Facility of \$30.3 million and net payments for stock issuances and buybacks of \$13.4 million.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We use off-balance sheet arrangements to finance the lease of facilities. We have financed the use of all of our office and storage facilities through operating leases. Operating leases are also used from time to time to finance the use of computers, servers, copiers, and telephone systems, and to a lesser extent, other fixed assets, such as furnishings. We also obtain operating leases in connection with business acquisitions. We generally assume the lease rights and obligations of businesses acquired in business combinations and continue financing facilities and equipment under operating leases until the end of the lease term following the acquisition date.

The table below summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2017 that require us to make future cash payments. For contractual obligations, we include payments that we have an unconditional obligation to make.

		Payments due by Period				
		Less than 1 to 3		3 to 5	More than	
(in thousands)	Total	1 year	years	years	5 years	
Long-term debt obligation (1)	\$262,866	\$7,088	\$14,176	\$241,602	\$ —	
Rent of facilities	191,080	34,868	63,834	58,945	33,433	
Operating lease obligations	2,150	1,179	866	102	3	
Capital expenditure obligations	3,745	3,638	107	_		
Total	\$459,841	\$46,773	\$78,983	\$300,649	\$ 33,436	

⁽¹⁾ Represents the obligation for principal and variable interest payments related to our Credit Facility assuming that the principal amount outstanding and interest rates at September 30, 2017 remain fixed through maturity. These assumptions are subject to change in future periods.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There have been no material changes in the disclosures discussed in the section entitled "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" in Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting. As of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act. We performed the evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective for the purpose of ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in our reports filed with the SEC under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There have been no significant changes in our internal controls over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) during the period covered by this Quarterly Report or, to our knowledge, in other factors that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls. Control systems, no matter how well conceived and operated, are designed to provide a reasonable, but not an absolute, level of assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been or will be detected. Because of the inherent limitations in any control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal matters and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While these matters and proceedings cause us to incur costs, including, but not limited to, attorneys' fees, we currently believe that any ultimate liability arising out of these matters and proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

An update on litigation related to our Road Home contract is discussed in "Note 13—Commitments and Contingencies—Road Home Contract" in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in this Quarterly Report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes in those risk factors discussed in the section entitled "Risk Factors" disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report.

The risks described in our Annual Report are not the only risks that we encounter. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and/or operating results.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuances of Common Stock. For the three months ended September 30, 2017, a total of 3,999 shares of unregistered common stock, valued at an aggregate of \$187,353 were issued to eight of our directors for director-related compensation on July 5, 2017. The issuance of these shares is exempt from registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Purchase of Equity Securities by Issuer. The following table summarizes our share repurchase activity for three months ended September 30, 2017:

			Total	Maximum
			Number of	Number (or
			Shares	Approximate
			Purchased	Dollar Value)
			as Part of	of Shares that
		Average	Publicly	May Yet Be
	Total	Price	Announced	Purchased
	Number of	Paid per	Plans or	Under the
	Shares	Share	Programs	Plans or
Period	Purchased	(1)	(2)	Programs (2)
July 1 - July 31	_	\$ —	_	\$ 33,307,804
August 1 - August 31	171,501	\$ 44.79	169,100	\$ 26,225,631
September 1 - September 30	_	\$ —	_	\$ 25,732,466
Total	171,501	\$ 44.79	169,100	

- (1) The total number of shares purchased of 171,501 includes shares repurchased pursuant to our share repurchase program described further in footnote (2) below, as well as shares purchased from employees to pay required withholding taxes related to the settlement of restricted stock units in accordance with our applicable long-term incentive plan. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, we repurchased 2,401 shares of common stock from employees in satisfaction of tax withholding obligations at an average price of \$45.88 per share.
- (2) The current share repurchase program, expiring on November 4, 2017, authorizes share repurchases in the aggregate up to \$75.0 million, not to exceed the amount allowed under the Credit Facility. As part of the

Company's modification of the Credit Facility, the limits on share repurchases were eliminated except that our Leverage Ratio, prior to and after giving effect to any repurchase, must not be greater than 3.25 to 1.00. During the three months ended September 30, 2017, we repurchased 169,100 shares under the stock repurchase plan at an average price of \$44.78 per share.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information None.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Exhibit

- 31.1 Certificate of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a). *
- 31.2 Certificate of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a). *
- 32.1 <u>Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.</u>*
- 32.2 <u>Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.</u>*
- The following materials from the ICF International, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017 formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.*

^{*}Submitted electronically herewith.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

November 3, 2017 By: /s/ Sudhakar Kesavan

Sudhakar Kesavan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

November 3, 2017 By: /s/ James Morgan

James Morgan

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)